ment.?2 Apparently unbeknownst to Blair, Biath-
wayt had made his report on the likely effect of
the College on Virginia revenues available to the
Lords of the Treasury on February 22, 1692.
Their report does not appear to have been
submitted to the Privy Council until july 10, and
not until July 28 was the matter considered by
both Mary and the Privy Council together. The
Lords of the Treasury were in favor of support-
ing the College as well as providing a salary for
the commissary, but the quitrents Blair had
proposed as a revenue source were rejected. At
some date in 1692 Nicholson had urged Blair,
with regard to the drafting of the College’s
charter, to enlist the aid of “Mr. Robert Sawyer
and Mr. Finch, because they were great lawyers
and Church of England men.”®
On September 1, 1692, exactly a year after
Blair’s arrival in London, definitive action came
from Whitehall:
On reading the Treasury veport, concerning a
college in Virginia. The Queen approves said re-
port, saving as to the clause relating to escheats
[quitrents]: and hereby ovders that the sum of
£1,985 14s. 10d. be applied to the building of a
free school and college.>*
This is the most explicit extant reference that
shows Mary authorizing money to be spent on
the College’s building. Blair’s actions in the
subsequent months until the charter was granted
on February 8, 1693, remain unclear. During
this period he must have finalized the draft of
the charter and sought advice on the building
itself. Nicholson, who meanwhile had been
appointed governor of Maryland, arrived in
London in December 1692 and remained there
until the spring of 1694. Thus both Blair and
Nicholson were in London in the crucial period
from December through March when the Col-
lege received its charter and probably its design.
Yet evidence as to how Blair and Nicholson might

have collaborated (or even worked separately) on
behalf of the College in this four-month period,
whether on charter, design, or both, remains
elusive.?s

Immediately after the charter had been
granted, Blair obtained the College’s seal from
the College of Heralds and employed its first
usher, Mungo Inglis. Blair reportedly ran up a
bill in London with Micaiah and Richard Perry,
the College’s accountants, for nearly £142, pre-
sumably in addition to his allowance of £200.

In 1694 he listed these as “building expenses,”
which may have included costs for a design.
Before leaving England he wrote a letter from
Portsmouth on March 29, 1693, and indicated
he would shortly embark for Virginia.* William
made at least one further gesture on behalf of
the College, probably late in 1692. He wrote a
letter to the archbishops of York and Canterbury
stating:

We doubt not you wish well for the spread of Chris-

tianity in Virginia by evecting churches and schools

within the colony; wherefore we authorize you to
wrile to the bishops of the several dioceses within
your provision, divecting them to give order to the
ministers and other zealous men of their diocese, by
their examples in contributions, and by exhortation
to others, to move our people within their several
charges to contribute to so good a work in as liberal

a manner as they may. These collections are to be

made on four several occasions within the next two

years.%

It has been noted that Nicholson remained in
London nearly a year after Blair had returned to
Virginia. It is difficult to believe he did not con-
tinue to work on behalf of the College. Nichol-
son was well known to Compton, Tenison, Perry,
and Daniel Finch, the earl of Nottingham, and
may have played a key role in arranging for
Thomas Hadley, undertaker of construction at
the College, and for English masons and a gar-
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Fig. 9. Basil Kennett, Romae
Antiquae Notitia: Or, The
Antiquities of Rome (London,
1696), frontispiece, Be-

inecke Rare Book and
Manuscript Library, Yale
University.
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dener to be sent to Virginia in 1694. Moreover,
most of the 200 plus books Nicholson purchased
there that year would soon constitute the first
large bequest to the College. Among them was
John Evelyn’s translation of Jean de la Quintinie’s
treatise on gardening, published first in 1693 as
The Compleat Gard’ner, a work Nicholson is
thought to have drawn from in designing An-
napolis in 1694 and Williamsburg in 1699.38
Another book Nicholson probably knew by the
time Williamsburg was laid out and the Capitol
authorized in 1699 was Basil Kennett's Romae
Antiquae Notitia: Or, The Antiquities of Rome, the
first edition of which appeared in 1696 (igure
9).3° The book, with its implicit focus on republi-
can features of Roman culture, may be viewed

as a document of the revolution, for it illustrated
the Capitolium, where Rome’s Senate met, as
well as the Pantheon (figure 101). In initial
legislation authorizing the move of Virginia’s
capital from Jamestown to Williamsburg, then
called Middle Plantation, the “Capitol” was called
the “Statehouse.” Given Nicholson’s earlier
allusion to “olympick games,” his literary inter-
est, and his experience in town planning, he can
also be given credit for coining this important
euphemism. This was the first use in any lan-
guage of the word “Capitol” to designate the
major legislative building of a colony, state, or
nation, and the only one that became nearly
universal in the United States after the American
Revolution.

Given the efforts being made by Locke and
others, both in England and abroad, to stabilize
and democratize government and to foster
freedom of expression, the appearance of Romae
Antiquae Notitia was perfectly timed. It is in-
tended that this brief introduction cast the crea-
tion of the College, both as an institution and
as a work of architecture, and, subsequently,
Williamsburg and its major public buildings, in
the light shed by the Glorious Revolution. Both
college and town are best illuminated when seen
against the other as direct consequences of ideals
and realities of this upheaval. The Glorious
Revolution brought an end to a century and a
half of religious, political, educational, and
artistic uncertainty in England and in the colo-
nies, and provided a good part of the founda-
tion for the freedoms associated with the mod-
ern world. It was not inevitable that the ideals of
the Revolution would find immediate expression
in the colonies. But with the College and Wil-
liamsburg, they did.
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don, 1976), especially V.
Blair mentioned a workman
named “Pocock” in connec-
tion with construction of
the first College building:

Whiffen, Public Buildings,
19. The author located one
“Linke Pocock” in The

Wren Society, XX (1943),
166 (Pipe Roll 4), where it
was noted Pocock was paid
£18 15s. for unspecified
work. Since Whiffen’s book
was published, it has be-
come clear that George
London, in charge of land-
scape design at Hampton
Court in the period 1689—
1694, sent a gardener,
probably James Road, to
Virginia in mid—-1694 with a
design for the College’s
gardens, with instructions
to lay them out, and to
return to England with a
collection of “fforeign
plants.” Reference to the
College’s gardens appears
to have been first published
by Ruth Bourne, “John
Evelyn, The Diarist, and His
Cousin Daniel Parke 11,”
VMHB, LXXVIII (1970),
3-33. Bourne found them
mentioned in Evelyn Manu-
script no. 39 in the Evelyn
Library of Christ Church,
Oxford, (Evelyn Mss., Let-
ter Book, 1679-1699,
£.176), “Evelyn to Parke,
Wotton near Dorking in
Surrey, May 12, 1694.” On
the same day Evelyn wrote
Parke telling him that “1
have not seen Cap. Nichol-
son.” Parke apparently
wanted Evelyn and Nichol-
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son to meet. Evelyn did not
name the gardener;
Thomas E. Thorne and
William Pavlovsky located
the likely person, James
Road, in 1974 in The Wren
Society, IV (1927), 34.
There, Road is recorded as
being given £234 11s.9d , a
hefty sum, “for going to
Virginia to make a collec-
tion of fforeign plants.”

39. Nicholson’s schol-
arly, as well as philan-
thropic, inclinations emerge
clearly in McCully, “Gover-
nor Francis Nicholson,
Patron,” 310-333, and in
Reps, Tidewater Towns, espe-
cially, chaps. 2, 3, and 4.
Whiffen implied, but did
not state directly, that the
Kennett book might have
occasioned reversion to the
word “Capitol,” just as he
did not absolutely attribute
its coinage to Nicholson: see
Whiffen, Public Buildings,
11 and passim. Robert Bev-
erley did, however, credit
Nicholson when he wrote
that Nicholson “graced . . .
[the] stately Fabrick . . . with
the magnificent Name of
the Capitol:” Robert Bever-
ley, The History and Present
State of Virginia, revised
as The History and Present
State of Virginia in Four Parts,
ed. Louis B. Wright (Rich-
mond, 1942), 105,

40. Apparently finding

Virginians deficient in their
concern for both govern-
ment and defense, Nichol-
son appears to have devised
a plan wherein “Olympick
games” were to be held in
each of Virginia’s counties,
to culminate with colony-
wide games in the capital:
see Webb, “The Strange
Career of Francis Nichol-
son,” 513. It will be seen
that the Roman word “cam-
pus” was first used to de-
scribe college grounds

at Princeton. See note 58,
chapter IV.

Notes to Chapter I







II.  History of the Original College Design, 1693—1931

In the nearly fifteen months that elapsed before
the College was granted a charter on February 8,
1693, Blair must certainly have come to know
Whitehall Palace very well. It housed many
offices of state besides the apartments of the
monarchs. Immediately adjoining the Whitehall
complex was a series of three courts known as
Scotland Yard, one of which housed the Office of
Works. As surveyor general, Christopher Wren
had his house and office there. The invaluable
bird’s-eye view of Whitehall and adjacent areas,
dated ¢.1694—-1696 and attributed to Leonard
Knyff, reveals what Blair saw during his year and
a half in London (figure 10 with key A-M). An
earlier plan of Whitehall, dated 1669-1670, had
perhaps been made at Wren’s instigation. A
comparison of Knyff’s perspective and the 1669
and 1688 plans permits some understanding of
the architectural changes wrought between 1679
and 1695 (figures 11a—b).! Moreover, a glance

at buildings in the complex provides a microcos-
mic view of how interrelated English, Dutch
(and, very shortly, American) architectural
traditions were in the later seventeenth and early
eighteenth centuries.

Inigo Jones’s Banqueting House (A), the most
monumental structure in the complex, is shown
in the center of Knyff’s drawing. Immediately to
its left, separating the Pebble Court (B) from
the Privy Garden (C), was a series of important
buildings James II had instructed Wren and the
Office of Works to execute in the period 1685 to

1688. Although these buildings as well as most of
those against the Thames River burned in the
disastrous fire that consumed Whitehall in 1698,
a few drawings of them by Wren or the Office

of Works survive. The Roman Catholic chapel
(D), which jutted into the Pebble Court to the left
of the Banqueting House, was designed by Wren
for James II. It was connected to the new Coun-
cil Chamber (E), for which a Wren elevation
survives (figure 85). Adjoining the Council
Chamber was the Privy Gallery (F), a three-and-
a-half-story range of more than twenty bays of
newly fashionable sash windows that separated
the Court from the Garden and linked the
aforementioned buildings along Whitehall Street
to those against the Thames.

It is most likely that Blair received both audi-
ence and charter in these buildings. The Council
Chamber housed the Privy Council; the Privy
Gallery contained offices housing William and
Mary’s secretary, Daniel Finch, the earl of Not-
tingham, as well as the secretary of the Treasury,
William Lowndes, with whom both Blair and
Nicholson had to deal. It is known that Blair had
at least one meeting with Bishop Compton in
his Whitehall quarters. The Knyff perspective
suggests that the Privy Gallery was a building
whose character was very much like the main
ranges of the yet-to-be-designed College. It
appears to have been a rather plain, even vernac-
ular building at the very core of the Court of St.
James, close to Wren’s house and office and to

Detalil, figure 10.
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Fig. 10. Leonard Knyff
(attribution), Bird’s-eye View
of Whitehall Palace, drawing,
¢.1695, Westminster City
Archives.

Banqueting House
Pebble Court
Privy Garden
Roman Catholic Chapel
Council Chamber
Privy Gallery
Queen’s Apt.
Volary Bldg.
Terrace

Wren’s Office
Admiralty

Horseguards
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‘Georgian’ House

Fig. 12. The Admiralty, Am-
sterdam, Daniel Stalpaert
(attribution), architect, c.
1656, photograph: Ge-
meentearchief, Amsterdam
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other offices both Blair and Nicholson were
obliged to visit in order to conduct their busi-
ness. The Privy Gallery was, then, a recent work
by Wren, one of vernacular cast, one which Blair
knew, and one that had important features
soon to characterize the College.

Other buildings in the Knyff drawing also
deserve attention. The two adjoining houses (G—
H) fronting the parterred terrace projecting into
the Thames served both James II and William
and Mary as their private apartments at White-
hall Palace. The Queen’s Apartment (G), a Wren
design from 1687-1688, has English, Jonesian
features, and was scarcely finished when James
fled Whitehall in December of the latter year;

the earlier Volary Building (H), on the other
hand, has certain Dutch features. These two
buildings were William and Mary’s first and
primary residence upon being jointly proclaimed
monarchs in February 1689, but William’s asth-
matic condition soon caused them to relocate to
more suitable primary residences. Mary com-
plained to William in 1691 that all she saw at
Whitehall was water and walls, and that she went
to Kensington “as often as I can for air.”? As a
result, from 1689 until 1694 Wren was kept busy
remodeling and enlarging Kensington Palace
and Hampton Court. After fire destroyed build-
ings (shown in the 1669-1670 plan) adjoining
the river and the Privy Garden to the left of the




monarch’s quarters in 1691, Mary had Wren use
the rubble to construct, in 1693—1694, the ter-
race (I) jutting into the Thames. This provided a
sense of unity to the two buildings housing king
and queen just as it provided them with air and
space as well as water and walls. Recycling the
materials from the ruined buildings into this
terrace was apparently the major building activ-
ity at Whitehall during the visits of Blair and
Nicholson in 1691-1694.

There is still more to learn from the drawing
and plan of Whitehall, as both offer precedents
for Williamsburg’s buildings. The plan confirms
that Whitehall had been an even greater maze of
tiny, disjointed buildings connected by narrow,
crooked alleys when Wren assumed the surveyor
generalship in 1669. In the very upper right-
hand corner of the plan (against Whitehall
Street and against the gate leading into middle
Scotland Yard) is Wren’s house and office; this
also appears in the Knyff drawing (J). Across
Whitehall Street from Wren’s house and office
stood the Admiralty (K), a building of some
substance that William I1I had built in 1694~
1695. A comparison of it with the Admiralty
(Prinsenhof) in Amsterdam, attributed to Daniel
Stalpaert and built in 1661, is instructive (figure
12). While the Dutch Admiralty survives, the
English Admiralty does not. Both comprised a
major range of eleven bays, were three stories
high, and had the central five bays enframed by
a monumental pediment. The pediment on the
Amsterdam building was supported by colossal
pilasters, and while the sketchiness of Knyff’s
drawing cannot confirm that the London build-
ing lacked them, by the 1690s they were out of
vogue. The main ranges in both were set back
from the street and were flanked by subordinate
flanking wings that projected toward the street.
It is likely both admiralties were built of brick,
and the English Admiralty probably was origi-
nally fitted with sash windows. The similarities
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Fig. 11a. Plan of Whitehall
Palace, London, drawing,
1669-1670, by courtesy of
the Society of Antiquaries
of London.

Fig 11b. Plan of Whitehall
Palace, London, as it appeared
by 1688, Controlier of Her
Britannic Majesty’s Station-
ery Office.
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between the two buildings are striking and sug-
gest William I1I had the Dutch Admiralty in
mind when having that in London designed.®

Two further buildings suggest Dutch influ-
ence at Whitehall. The Horse Guards (L) was
built by Charles II in 1663—1664 shortly after
the Restoration and replaced in the next cen-
tury. Like the Admiralty the Horse Guards also
suggests Dutch (and ultimately French) influ-
ence. The center pile, crowned by a cupola, was
set back from Whitehall Street and was flanked
by subordinate but attached forecourt depend-
encies. A final building to be noted in middle
Scotland Yard, shown partially blocked in the
Knyff perspective (M), does not appear on the
1669 plan. Although it is more thoroughly
“Georgian” than the Horse Guards, it, too, prob-
ably reflects Dutch influence. Were it to sport a
cupola, with its hipped roof with balustrade, two-
and-a-half-story height, and five- to seven-bay
facade, it would have been a near identical twin
of Williamsburg’s Governor’s Palace, the con-
struction of which was a mere decade away.

This glance at Whitehall, as it appeared dur-
ing the visits of Blair and Nicholson, is important
for a number of reasons. The Knyff perspective
enables us to see what they saw at the very place
both were obliged to do business on a regular
basis. It also reveals how English and Dutch
architectural features appear to have both inter-
mingled and confronted each other after the
Restoration. The plan and perspective show how
readily accessible the office of the surveyor
general was to the king and queen and there-
fore, to Blair and Nicholson. Blair had obtained
both the College’s charter and endowment at
Whitehall, and Nicholson had probably sought
guidance from Wren or his office in determining
the buildings and plan of Annapolis in 1694
and Williamsburg in 1699. Finally, Whitehall’s
buildings suggest that those who consider Wil-
liamsburg’s public buildings to be basically pro-

vincial, vernacular structures since become
common and anonymous in England oversim-
plify the situation. The character of many
Whitehall buildings appears to have been quite
similar generically to those about to go up in
Williamsburg. On the other hand, if Williams-
burg’s College, Capitol, and Palace are consid-
ered vernacular, so also were recently
constructed buildings at Whitehall, some of
which were designs of Wren. Consequently, rea-
soning that the possible vernacular character of
the College’s first building is an argument
against it having been originally a design by
Wren or his office is wide of the mark. Finally,
there is the knowledge that history has treated
Whitehall even more severely than Williamsburg
with regard to the loss of, or changes made to,
the buildings, of devastating fires, and of the loss
and destruction of drawings and documents
that might enable firm attributions and knowl-
edge of a building’s details. These Whitehall
drawings should be borne in mind in the ensu-
ing discussion that makes the first attempt to
more completely visualize the appearance of the
first College building.

o

It is important to remember, however, that
the structure one sees today is actually not the
first College building, but the fifth, as recon-
structed and restored by the Colonial Williams-
burg Foundation in the period 1928-1931. The
only known view of the original College building,
as it was probably designed in 1693 and con-
structed in part from 1695 to 1699, is the crude
elevation made in mid-1702 by Franz Ludwig
Michel, a Swiss traveler. The building burned in
1705 but was rebuilt over a ten-year period from
1705 to 1715. The oldest surviving images of
this second building are in the so-called Bodleian
Plate of 1732—1747 and in the portrait Charles
Bridges painted of James Blair in the same pe-
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riod. This second building appears to have
survived without major modification until it
burned in 1859. The remaining walls were then
incorporated by Henry Exall of Richmond and
Eben Faxon of Baltimore into an Italian villa
design. This third structure stood for only three
years before it was burned by Federal troops in
1862. Reconstruction did not take place until
1867-1869 when Alfred L. Rives of Richmond
recycled the surviving brick walls once again; he
removed the Italianate towers on the east facade
and added a three-bay pedimented porch. This
fourth building survived until restoration began
in 1928 by the Boston firm, Perry, Shaw, and
Hepburn; the result was the structure we now
see. While its facades were remodeled to con-
form to those shown in the various prints and a
photograph of the second building, its steel-cage
frame and other modern requirements justify it
as a fifth building.

Marcus Whiffen’s book The Public Buildings of
Williamsburg (1958) included the first in-depth
study of the five phases of the College building.
Whiffen considered the first building and its
design only briefly. The attribution of the design
to Christopher Wren in Hugh Jones’s The Present
State of Virginia (1724) was also treated. However,
after weighing the arguments for and against
Jones’s attribution to Wren, Whiffen left the
matter unresolved. Since then, no conclusive
documents have to come light as to the origin of
the design or to the designer of the first build-
ing. Nonetheless, considerable evidence points to
the design originating in England, in the Office
of Works where Christopher Wren would cer-
tainly have known about it. Because of his posi-
tion he would have had ultimate responsibility
for the design, and, on this basis, could also have
made it. The most obvious reason for the in-
volvement of this office is William and Mary
themselves. Both were avidly interested in archi-
tecture and landscape design and worked on a

regular basis with Wren, who lived only minutes Original College Design

from the royal apartments at Whitehall. His
almost daily supervision of construction there, at
Kensington Palace, and at Hampton Court was
ongoing in the period when the College was
designed. Moreover, the College was the result
of a royal charter, and it was usual for royal
foundations to employ architects from the King’s
Works.

Given the financial restraints on the College,
it would have been natural for Mary to ask Wren
to volunteer a design, which would explain why
surviving building accounts fail to mention any.
Another reason suggesting the hand of a skilled
English architect familiar with classical design is
the complete absence of evidence for an Ameri-
can designer or builder capable of undertaking a
building the scale and size of the College. Wil-
liam Penn had been obliged around 1690 to
bring the English architect James Porteus to Phil-
adelphia, just as Thomas Hadley and several
English masons were hired and brought to
Virginia to supervise and construct the College.
Why bring over English masons and architects if
they were available in Virginia and Pennsylvania?
Clearly, they were not. It follows, therefore, that
an American designer for the College would be
even more difficult to locate.

The style and large scale of the College and
the small fireplace openings that may have been
a cause of the 1705 fire also point to a source
in England. Its proportions point to the school
of Inigo Jones of which Wren was a part. The
east range of the building measured 46 by 138
feet; the Hall, as rebuilt after the 1705 fire, and
the Chapel (1729-1732) each measured 32 by 64
feet. The former dimensions create a proportion
of 1:3, the latter of 1:2, as Marcus Whiffen first
observed.' He also suggested that the original
three-story height of this range was forty-six
feet, equal to the width, thereby making the
building a series of three nearly perfect cubes.
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Rooms or spaces conceived as a series of cubes,
double cubes, or triple cubes not only originated
in England with the designs of Jones, but were
also characteristic of his followers.

Two pieces of clearly related evidence provide
links for the design of the College as a project of
Wren and the Office of Works. A letter written in
1694 by Wren’s close friend, John Evelyn, men-
tioned a gardener sent to Virginia that same
year with a design for the College’s gardens.
Evelyn wrote John Walker, a Virginia planter
who had sent him sassafras oil:

Whatever else you are pleas’d to mention design’d

for me will be best convey’d to me by M. London,

(his Majs Gardner here) who has an ingenious

Servant of his in Virginia, not unknown I presume

to you by this time. being sent thither on purpose to

make and plant the Garden, designed for the new

College, newly built in yr Country; & Likewise

enquire out, what plants, rare in this Kingdome,

may be transported hither.
Pipe Roll IV for Hampton Court, listing ac-
counts for the period May 1, 1689-March 25,
1696, cited one “James Road, Gardiner,” who
was given £234 11s. 9d. “for going to Virginia to
make a collection of fforeign Plants.”> From
these two accounts, it is clear that James Road, in
the employ of George London, in charge of the
gardens at Hampton Court, was sent with a
design prepared there for the College’s gardens.
He was instructed to lay them out as well as to
return with a collection of “rare” and “fforeign”
plants. William and Mary’s intense interest in
gardens, not to mention that of Henry Compton,
certainly accounts for Road’s trip, probably
undertaken in mid-1694. At the time, Mary was
fully absorbed in the development of her “water
garden” at Hampton Court.

Unfortunately, no description of the Col-
lege’s original gardens survives before that made
by Hugh Jones in 1724 when he wrote of the
College as set in its gardens:

It 15 approached by a good Walk, and a grand

Entrance by Steps, with good Courts and Gardens

about it, with a good House and Apartments for the

Indian Master and his Scholars, and Out-Houses,

and a large Pasture enclosed like a Park with about

150 acres of Land adjoining, for occasional Uses.
Eight years later, possibly at the time the Bod-
letan Plate was drawn (figure 21), the Reverend
William Dawson, professor of philosophy at the
College who succeeded Blair as president in
1743, noted that the College’s “garden [was]
planted with evergreens kept in very good or-
der” in the forecourt or College Yard. The
gardens as shown in the plate appear very simi-
lar to those shown in contemporary prints of
Kensington Palace.® These were maintained at
the time by Thomas Crease, a gardener and
nurseryman, who variously attended the College
or Palace gardens between 1724 and 1756. Until
the recent discovery of the ¢.1680 formal gar-
dens at Bacon’s Castle in Surry County, the
gardens of the College, as probably designed in
1694 and surviving in principal ways thirty years
later when Jones wrote of them, were the earliest
evidence for the formal garden in the English
colonies.

When Evelyn wrote of the “ingenious Ser-
vant” of George London sent to Virginia in 1694
“to make and plant the Garden, designed for
the new College, newly built in yr Country,” he
did not know that its construction would not
begin until the following year, that the College
was five years away from being completed in its
first phase, or that the original design would
never be completed. But Evelyn’s statement
makes clear that a design for the College’s gar-
dens had been made by George London or
under his supervision at Hampton Court, which
means it would have been an Office of Works
project for which Wren had ultimate responsibil-
ity. Preparation of a garden design presupposes
one for the building it surrounds. Since a design
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and gardener were provided by the crown, the
case is greatly strengthened for royal involve-
ment with the building. Because London pro-
vided Road and the College with a design for the
gardens, it may be inferred further that Wren
and the Office of Works had earlier provided
Blair, Nicholson, or even Hadley with a design
for the building itself.

A plan of the College shown at location A on
the survey of Williamsburg as laid out by June
1699 by Theodorick Bland is drawn with solid
lines that indicate those portions of the building
that had been constructed by 1699 (figure 13). A
note on the survey states that the “prick’d” lines
show those portions yet to be built.” The east
range had been built as had the Hall to the
north, but the west range and Chapel to the
south had not. Bland’s plan is consonant with all
other descriptions of the building at this time.
The small scale of the plan prevents accurate
measurement, but the two ranges and inset
Chapel and Hall approximate a square. If the
length of the Chapel and Hall was originally
seventy-two feet, as the foundations indicate, or
even sixty-four feet, as rebuilt in 1729-1732,
then the building was not the square Bland
shows. He drew the never-built west range, and
as such, the sole surviving, if woefully vague,
image of this range is shown to match that to the
east exactly. Here, Bland was probably correct,
which means that the original design measured
138 by 164 feet, shortened in 1729-1732 to 156

feet. In this regard, the two other buildings
Bland drew on the survey, the first Bruton Parish
Church and the Capitol, do not reflect exactly
what was built, although he drew the latter
building in the form of an “H” that was specified
in the act for its construction.

Contemporary accounts that survive from
before the 1705 fire also help to confirm the
appearance of the first building as well as to
chart the progress made in its construction. On
September 1, 1693, Blair presented the College’s
charter to the House of Burgesses, which began
to debate various sites proposed for its location—
near Yorktown, another York County site, a site
in Gloucester County, and the one finally se-
lected in October, at Middle Plantation in James
City County, which, midway between Jamestown
and Yorktown, was found “most convenient and
proper.” The College was to be “erected and
built as neer the church now standing in Middle
Plantation old ffields [Bruton Parish Church] as
convenience will permitt.”® On December 20,
1693, the College paid Thomas Ballard £170 for
330 acres west of the church extending to Arch-
er's Hope Swamp, the ravine that was later
dammed and is today embellished by Lake Ma-
toaka (figure 14). In 1694 boundary stones
bearing the royal monogram were set out, two of
which survive.?

Meanwhile, Francis Nicholson had been
appointed governor of Maryland, and Virginia’s
new governor, Edmund Andros, would prove

Original College Design

Fig. 13. Plan of The College
of William and Mary, detail
of the redrawing after
Theodorick Bland of A
Draft of the City of Williams-
burg, of Queen Mary’s Port
and Princess Anne’s Port,
Virginia drawn in 1699
(original in the British Public
Records Office), 1940, from
Rutherfoord Goodwin, A
Brief & True Report Concern-
ing Williamsburg in Virginia
.. . (Williamsburg, 1940),
Colonial Williamsburg
Foundation Library
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less zealous than Nicholson in promoting the
College. On January 2, 1694, President Blair
wrote Nicholson that “as to the College tho
nothing was done for its encouragement in com-
parison to what might have been expected had
vou been here, yet we reckon it is well that it is
no worse.”!" For Blair, Andros was already fore-
most of the “enemies” of the College. Not until
June 11, 1694, did the House of Burgesses ap-
prove funds for construction—£1,135 for the
College and £100 annual salary for Blair as
president. With £1,985 from the crown and £300
from the pirates, endowment stood at a mini-
mum of £3,420. The earliest building accounts
also date to 1694, when the important task of
making bricks was entrusted to Daniel Parke II;
he was paid fourteen shillings per 1,000 to make
some 800,000 bricks."

On May 8, 1695, Blair wrote Nicholson again
that progress with construction “now looks with
as bad an appearance as ever,” citing this time

Col. Philip Ludwell, who refrained from assisting
for “fear of Sir A.” Blair claimed that Andros
had:
seduced . . some of the workmen that were gone
from England to Virginia upon the account of the
College: Money was given to Pocock to relinquish
the work of the College, & was afterwards enter-
tained and work grven him by Sir E. A. Mr.
Park[e] when agreed with, to burn the bricks for the
College was desived by the Governor to make &
burn some 30,000 for him.
Despite these intrigues, the cornerstone of the
College was laid on August 8, 1695. Construction
was supervised by a building committee com-
posed of members of the College’s Board of
Vistors, chaired by Miles Cary.'2
Presumably, by August 1695 Thomas Hadley
had arrived from England to supervise construc-
tion; he had been given an advance of £40.
Building accounts also show payment to Pocock,
a mason whom Blair mentioned, as well as to two
other masons, Samuel Baker and George Cryer,
sent from England with advances of £22 each.!®
Whiffen estimated that Hadley served as under-
taker for only sixteen months, but if he began in
August 1695 and left about October 1697, as
Blair claimed, Hadley was on the job for over two
vears. Despite a dearth of references to construc-
tion for 1696, work must have proceeded be-
cause accounts dated April 16, 1697, affirm that
£3.889 1s. 10d. had been spent on construction,
£170 more than had been allocated. The walls of
the east range had been erected; the Hall, the
basic interior framing, and the rafters appear to
have been in place: “Coll. Ludwell haveing prom-
ised to Shingle [the roof] upon Creditt.”** On
April 22, 1697, the College’s Visitors reported to
Governor Andros:
Wee doe humbly certify to yr Excly that we have
carried on the building of two sides of the designed
square of the Colledge (wch was all wee judged wee
had money to goe through with) and have brought




up the Walls of the Said building to the roof wch

[we] hope in a short time will be finished.'>
However, on December 27 of that year, Blair met
with Archbishop Tenison, John Locke, and
others and noted, “With much ado we have got
the roof on but half of the building, the other
half we have not meddled with, and how we shall
finish what we have built I cannot tell.”'¢ Blair
was correct when he wrote of the “half . . . not
meddled with,” for archeology has revealed that
no foundations for the west range were ever
attempted. It would never be built, and the
president would need to wait another thirty
vears before construction of the Chapel would
begin.

Less than a month later, Blair noted:

As to the Coll. the early Winter took us before there

was a shingle layd upon it; so that That is delayd

till the spring. The main Timbers are up; but

the Roof could not be finished, because the Chim-

neys which are to go wp through it, are not yet

carrved up for want of Bricks, & by reason of the
unseasonableness of the Weather, to lay them if we
had them. My. Hadley has been out of the Service
of the Coll. about two months ago. The Work is like
to meet with a full stop for want of money; for the
building hath allveady exhausted what money we
had either tn Mr. Perry’s Fc. their hands; or in

Col. Burds: and its very unceriain how the subscrip-

tions of this Country will come in: most people

shifting the payment, & shew plainly that they

intend not to pay, unless the Law compell them.\?
Clearly, construction did not proceed as it
should have, particularly in building the chim-
neys. This was probably the ultimate cause of the
1705 fire.

It appears that the College was complete
enough for use by mid-1699. In February 1700
Blair was able to write Archbishop Tenison more
optimistically: “The subscriptions that were
made to our College do now come in apace, so
that we are in hopes of having it quite finished

before the next Winter.” The following month Original College Design
the London Post Boy reported, probably too opti-
mistically, that “Some letters from Virginia tell
us, that the University . . . is so crowded with
Students, that they begin to think of enlarging
the College, for it seem divers from Pennsilvania,
Maryland and Carolina, send their sons thither
to be educated.”!®

On April 24, 1700, the College’s Board of
Visitors offered use of the building to all
branches of Virginia’s government until the
Capitol was completed. The offer was accepted,
and the building also became a statehouse be-
tween October 17, 1700, and April 1704.1° By
October 19, 1700, “His Excellency Sir Edmund
Andros [had] paid Sashing the College £56 7s.
6d.” It is quite likely the sash windows had al-
ready been installed on credit, as had the shin-
gles, by Colonel Ludwell. The installation of sash
windows at the College is the first known use of
them in the colonies, although legislation in
1699 authorizing the “Capitol” was amended in
June 1700 and actually specified sashes. This is
the earliest document yet located that mentioned
sash windows in the colonies, a specification that
appears to have been influenced by the use of
them at the College. Unfortunately, none of the
images of the first or second buildings shows the
windows except the mid-nineteenth-century
daguerreotype of the second building (hgure
28), and this shows mainly later replacements.2

Perhaps because government sessions were
held at the College, Governor Nicholson was able
to write, as early as Christmas 1702, his “Memo-
randum of Several faults in the Building of
William & Mary Colledge which have proved
dangerous & prejudicial to the said Building.”
Among the faults mentioned were the small
grate sizes of the fireplaces on the second floor.
These had already enabled a log to fall out on to
the floor and start a fire, apparently
extinguished quickly, “where the Sectys office

37




Original College Design

38

was kept.” A second fire was caused by “some
Joysts laid into the very hearth,” and a third fire
occurred in the Council Chamber on Christmas
1702 where a “plank” had been carelessly laid
under the hearth. This caused Nicholson to
remark that “the chimney over the Hall hath one
of the principal Girders running through the
middle of the hearth whereby no use can be
made of it.” It seems clear, however, from Blair’s
January 21, 1697, letter that all framing had
been complete before the chimneys had been
built. The fireplace openings have also been
cited as being too small, further evidence for the
design having originated in England.?!

For Blair and Nicholson, life in the same
building from 1700 to 1704 does not appear to
have helped their relationship. On April 25 and
May 1, 1704, Blair prepared two “affidavits”
stating his charges against Nicholson. These
atfidavits effectively ended their previously
productive collaborations. Among other things,
the president blamed the governor for the build-
ing’s defects: “As to the Finishing Part of the
College, he did so excessively hurry it on for
those several Uses, that partly by the Plank &
Timber being green & unseasoned & partly by
employing a great number of unskillful Work-
men to comply with his Haste, it was shamefully
spoilt.” Blair further claimed Nicholson had
sworn “that he would seize the College for the
King’s Use . . . & had all his public Treats in their
Hall to the great Disturbance of the College
Business.”#

Archeology undertaken on at least three
occasions from 1929 to 1950 reveals further in-
formation on the first building. The foundation
plan of the building, prepared by Perry, Shaw,
and Hepburn during restoration in 1929-1931,
reveals brickwork dated to at least five periods:
1695-1699, 17051715, 1729-1732, 1859, and
1867-1869 (figures 15-17). The 1695-1699
brick walls were laid in English bond above and

below the watertable and also appear to have
featured random glazed headers. It is not clear
what brick may date to the period of rebuilding
in 1705-1715. Obviously, considerably more
brickwork was added in the period 1929-1931.
The archeology undertaken originally was su-
pervised by Prentice Duell, who prepared the
report. Restorers used English bond in the
1695-1699 portions of the College, English and
Flemish bond in those built or rebuilt 1729—
1732. Brickwork dating 1695—-1699 was found
complete at the level of the foundations; only
those of the Chapel and west facade of the Hall
date later.?®

All original foundations were built with a
similar thickness of about three feet. The foun-
dations of the main range imply four evenly

disposed rooms against the east facade, the outer

two smaller than the inner two, which are sepa-
rated by a center passage with its own founda-
tions. The presence of these foundations sup-
ports the theory of a major staircase in the
passage. The two sets of rooms were originally
separated only by the foundations of two large
hearths. The only other fireplace foundations
excavated are those for a third fireplace at the
east end of the Hall. All images of the second
building, as well as Michel’s image of the first,
agree that the College had at least six separate
chimney stacks projecting above the east range,
including four smaller stacks set between the two
large stacks for which foundations exist—no
foundations are revealed for these smaller chim-
neys in the foundation plan of 1929-1931.

Foundations also separated the rooms and center

passage from the open loggia or piazza to the
west. These last foundations may have supported
smaller fireplaces on the upper floors shown in
the exterior views of both buildings. Witnesses to
the 1705 fire indicated two additional staircases
existed; one inside the loggia at its north end,
possibly in the Hall, the other, at the southeast




corner of the main range. However, no founda-
tions of first period date were found for either.
Additional points need to be made with regard
to three important details in the foundation
plan.

The first detail is the most interesting, as well
as problematic, portion of the foundations, and
is shown at the west end of the Hall on the plan
(figures 15—16). The present west facade of
the Hall dates to 1729-1732, when the Chapel
was constructed. Two sets of parallel foundations
exist to the west of the present west facade of
the Hall. The innermost has the same thickness
as its north and south walls and is shown by
the restoration architects as dating to the origi-
nal building period. The thickness of these walls
is an inch or two more than three feet, and the
innermost set is perfectly aligned with the north
and south walls. Moreover, this set clearly sug-
gests that it had been broken into in order to
create the present west facade of the Hall. If
these foundations indicate the Hall’s original
length, it extended about seventy-two feet, not
the present sixty-four feet, west from the east
range. The outermost set is shown unbonded to
the inner set and extends outward another eight
and a half feet. Curiously, it is shown to date to
the original building period, or at least to a
period before 1729-1732. These last founda-
tions vary in thickness from one and a half to
nearly four feet. They also contain the remains
of a descending stair, also seen in photographs
taken during the excavations, which, presuma-
bly, led to the kitchens below the Hall. The stair
has foundations to either side and may have
been covered differently from the rest of the
outermost foundations. An architect’s note on
this portion of the foundations suggests both
that they may have supported a porch and that
the inner set of foundations supported the
original west wall of the Hall.

If the Hall did extend outward seventy-two

feet before 1729-1732, it obviously was rede-

signed in that period to match the Chapel. More-

over, a seventy-two foot length of Hall and
Chapel would have produced a nearly square
courtyard, about seventy-two feet square. The
dimensions of the entire building as first de-
signed would, then, have been 138 by 164 feet,
producing an approximate 7:8 proportional

relationship, still compatible with Wren’s mode

of design. This greater length would also have
necessitated a sixth bay of arched windows on

the north and south facades, although the brick

bay at the west ends of these facades would

have been a few feet wider than those at the east

ends. Both sets of foundations extended the

Fig. 15. Perry, Shaw, and
Hepburn, Foundation Plan of
the College Building, drawing,
1929, Colonial Williams-
burg Foundation.
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Fig. 16. Foundations of the
Hall of the First College Build-
ing, 1929, photograph:
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Fig. 17. James M. Knight
(copy after), Foundation
Plan, Hall Extension and Jef-
ferson Addition, 1940, Colo-
nial Williamsburg
Foundation.
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length of the hall wing to about eighty-two feet
and would have enabled a seventh bay of win-
dows, exactly the number of bays in the Hall of
Wren’s Chelsea Hospital. 1f the original design
had called for a Chapel and Hall eighty-four feet
in length, the result would have been a building
138 by 176 feet, an exact 3:4 proportion.

Two reasons come to mind for shortening the
Hall and the Chapel design in 1729-1732. Both
assume that any plans to complete the original
quadrangle had been abandoned and, conse-
quently, that the west facade of the Hall, origi-
nally meant to be enclosed, had to be redesigned
in order to match that of the Chapel. This rea-
son is, thus, aesthetic—to achieve a 1:2 propor-
tion and two matching facades characterized by
ocular windows. The other reason may have
been structural and, to some extent, economic.
The original west walls may have been faulty,
and the greater length may have been deemed
unnecessary. Moreover, the present length of
Chapel and Hall is probably more satisfactory
aesthetically, provided a west range remained
unbuilt. The reverse is true had this range been
built, for a greater length would have helped to
alleviate a cramped courtyard and would have

provided more expansive north and south fa-
cades for the entire building.

A second most important detail in the foun-
dations that has gone unnoticed is the pier-like
projections on either side of the entrance on the
east facade. They were incorporated exactly
flush with the diminutive, remodeled pavilion
added in the 1705-1715 rebuilding, probably at
Governor Alexander Spotswood’s instigation.
Although Michel does not show these projec-
tions, it is highly unlikely that they were pilasters
or mere supports for a porch, but, instead,
supported a projecting pavilion narrower than
what was rebuilt after the fire. The wide arched
opening of the entrance accounts for the pier-
like nature of these foundations, which provided
support for this projecting pavilion as part of
the first design and building.

A final detail is the foundation centered on
the central bay of the arcade on the west facade
of the main range, a foundation some three feet
narrower in width than those on the east facade.
This foundation is shown as being unbonded to
the 1695-1699 walls, though, inexplicably, the
cross-hatching designates that period’s brick-
work. It would appear it supported a pavilion
identical in size to that built on the east facade in
1695-1699. Because of the angle selected, the
Bodleian Plate does not show this pavilion, and
neither does the only other image known of this
portion of the west facade, the drawing made
in 1856 by Travis or Mary E Southall (figure 29).
Because the east pavilion was clearly shown in
the drawing of that facade, questions are raised
as to whether this pavilion was actually built or
whether it somehow had been removed by 1856.
The width of the foundation corresponds ex-
actly to that of the original pavilion on the east
facade. Thus it is likely matching pavilions were
also included for the courtyard in the original
design, especially since the center arcade is wider
than those to its sides.




